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TOUSCON TAVERN

It is felt by monyv that the tavern which Ezekiel Towson wzs running in the
1760's may have been the business which began the long history of Towson as a
commercial center. As e crossroads service center and later as s courthouse
town Towson has been a gathering spot for many for over 200 years. During that
time there have been severszl inns and hotels in the town but for most of that
long period there was s tavern and hotel on this particular spot. The stone
building which was known as the "Towson Hotel" was razed in 1929 snd it may well
have conteined part of Towson's tavern.

The tavern is survived only by a few photogrepns and the boundries 2f its
large lot which gzive the east side of the 500 block of York Road its unusuel
shape. It is ironic that that same lot today supports several entertainment
and eating estsblishments, one of which includes the word "tavern" in its name.
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See Attachment
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It is felt by many that the tevern which Ezekiel Towson was running in
the 1760's may have been the business which begen the long history of Towson
g2s a comuercial center. As a crossroads service center and lster as s court-

house town Towson has been 2 gathering soot for many for
During that time there have been several inns and hotels
most of that long period there was s tavern and hotel on
The stone building which was known as the "Towson Hotel®

P and it may well have contsined part of Towson's tavern.
The tavern is survived only by a2 few photogrsphs snd the boundries of
of its large lot which give the east side of the 500 block of York Zoad its
unususl shepe. It is dronic that thst same lot today supports several enter-
tainment and esting establishments, one of which incliudes the word "tavern"

in its name.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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INTRODUCTION

The three recordable buildings in the 500 block of York Road on the east

side of the street are problematical not only because of alterations but because

- of additions and the degree to which buildings share foundations, walls, etc..
These buildings were errected in the late 19th century and early 20th century
on an historic site.

The history of the entire block is an 1nterest1nv one. On the 1353

- Zur Horst map ones can see that the "Hotel" occuples a trapezoidal 1ot bounded
- on the West by York Road, on the North by Joppa Road and on the East by Hillen
Road. A five acre lot being offered by Benjamin Payne as.a possible site for
the new Court House lies to the South. On the 1877 Atlas it can be seen thst
much development took place during the next twenty-four years or so after 1853
including the lazying out of streets and lots in o gridlron plan with 2 Northe

South axis. The hotel, however, remains on its large irregulsr lot which

forms nearly an entire block and it appears to be using all of that space
except for a tiny psrcel on Pennsylvania Avenue containing the newspaper »
~office of W. H. Ruby. In addition to the hotel itself there are seversl large
outbuildings. Deeds and old plats indicate that these buildings included

at least the stables.necessary for boardlng travelers&:horsas, and a stane
springhouse.

In its time Towson has had several hotels and taverns wnlch were logical
and necessary establishments in a town thot was both a crossroads service center
and county seat. The hotel which stood on this site until 1929, however, is
believed to have been the dldest having been built by the Towsons in the 1760's.
That roads, including the important YOrk'Turnpike, were laid out relative to
the buildings location and that it was an important gathering place for over
a century and a hslf are facts which gave it tremendous significance 3s a
landmark.

By 1898, however, the hotel no lon"er dominated the large ana.centrally
located lot. The Bromley Atlas of that year shows. that in addition to the
little newspaper office two other larger buildings which had their own out-
buildings were constructed facing York Road. The southernmost is labled as

‘be}.r.wmn.n“P to J. German and the northernmost is Towson National Bank. Parts
of these buildings are believed to remain today being contained in Robinson's
Liquor store (Bank) and the Kent Lounge. By the time of the 1920's America
had become "motorized" and Towson had become suburbsnized. Hotels, at least
outside of the city, gave way to motels or "motor courts" as ther were first
cglled. The landmark which had dominated this block and which hiad indeed
helped to foster the town itself was razed in 1929 and replaced by a2.movie
theatre and shops.

" Tittle or nothing remains of the era in which this block was one of
Towson's open spaces occupied only by the necessities of the hotel except,
that is, for the irregular shape of the block itself. The only open spaces
are the asphalted parking lots behind the more than twenty commercisl struec-
tures of the block. There are tws buildings which were late 19th century
neighbors to the hotel and along with the movie theatre are the only struc-~
tures of the block currentl;'beln? recorded (1977—78).




Whet is known gbout the tavern bullding is based primsrily on s limited
number of existing photographs, quite a few 19th century newspaper references,
land records a nd the informstion provided by an asccount of the hotel's demoli-
tion that was printed in the Baltimore Sun, Decewmber 1, 1929.

Court records prove that Ezekiel Towson was keeping z tavern as early as
1768 end land records suggest thst it was on this some site. The Towsons held
this property until 1802 and it changed hands meny times afterwsrds with deeds
and advertisements referring to s "tavern stand' snd their name. What is most
uncertain seems 1o be an accurate understanding of whet kind of building evolu-
tion took place hetween 1768 and 1929 when the successor to Towson's Tavern, the
Towson Hotel, was demolished. An unsubstantlated tale of the Towsons which men-
tions a log structure and two frequently reproduced 1920's photographs of the
stone bullding known as "lowson Hotel" are the main body of evidence as to what
kind of building(s) served as the inn during the 158 yesr period in question.

~In the 1920's photographs a nesrly square stone building can be seen which
is 2% stories high with an equilatersl hipped roof. The stone appears uncoursed
and uncut except for the window arches and an attempt at gquoining. The building
is five beys wide, five bays desp and a smaller recessed wing can be seen on the
gast side. The east wing appesrs to be of equal height, is perhaps three bays
wide and twd> long and has galleries on tne south side. This wing gives the
building sn L-shape that is verified on the Hopkins map of 1877 and lster meps
and plats.

The fenestrstion has symmetrical openings, however, there sre three types
of sash: 2/2 on the first floor, 6/6 on the second and 3/3 on the third level.
The 1926 photo of the south facade shows a 1/1 sash in the easternmost bey of
the first floor, What sre presumed to be casement windows lighting s basement
peer slightly above the ground surfzce. The windows of the first two levels
have flast stone arches and the bottom windows of the west facade contain sclid
raised vanel shutters. There are three panels per shutter, two of equal size
plus s smaller one on top which is the seme gzeometric arrvangement as the windows
themselves.

One source, backed up by the 1853 Zur Horst man, states that the Towson
Tavern was oriented to the crossroads facinz Joppa Road (as it originslly ran
on the south side of present day Hutzlers) while the Hopkins, Shealey, Bromley
and other maps show the bullding facing Nortiwest with more of an orientation
towards the York Turnvike or a2t least the intersection. The documented story
of Ezekiel Towson's concern over the routing of the York Turnpike in 1799 is
oroof of the tavern's direct relationship to that road, but sugzests as well
that the original building msy have had s different orientation. This point
is significant insofar zs there do not seem to be any photozraphs of the north-
east side of the building.

The 1920's photographs, however, show quite plainly that the main side of
the Towson Hotel, as it was then called, was the west (northwest) fazcade. This
is the only visible facade with shutters, s centrally locsted sign but wore im-
portantly, a centrslly locsied entrance. The building was entered by a single
glass pane door which had a transom.

The south {southwest) facade of the main block has two entrances each
being reached by three steps. If one numbers the five bays from West to East
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on this side, doors occupy the first bay snd bav # Lh. Windows define the other
bays and it should be noticed that there is a greater distance between bavs # 2
and #3 than between any of the others. The south side of the east wing appears
to have doors in its innermost bays and 2 window in the easternmost bays of the
first and second floors. The porches are supported by tall square posts and the
banisters are decorated with crisscross balusters. Like the main block the third
level is vented by knee-windows.

Interior-

There is little printed information concerning the interior although it is
not impossible that oral history could still fill this gap. The Clark article
wiich appesred in the Sunday Sun, December 1, 1929, gives some informetion about
the bullding although the article is vague in its sources. In reading it, how-
ever, one is told that:

- the stone walls were 18" in thickness

-~ the wreckers found logs in good condition thet were "used for building

the original interior.®

- the tavern was enlarzed c. 1799 to provide 13 hedrooms on the second znd

third floors and that the first floor contained a dining room, ber,
kitchen, pentry, ready room, lobby and privste quarters ior the pro-
prietor snd his twelve children, '

- George Washington 1is reputed > heve slept here.

In the 1970's this last bit of information immedistely casts doubt upon
the credibility of the other "facts® and it is somewhat uncertain in the deteil-
ing of the rooms whether or not the description is for their use in 1799 or at
the time of demolition. The informstion about the thickness of the stone walls
or the removal of the logs suggests that the author at leasst knew witnesses if
she did not witness the destruction of the building herself. It can be deduced
from the article that there were at one point at least wore than twenty rooms
in the building used by both the Towson family and the patrons and that there
were definite divisions of space relstive to use.

One wmight further assume from the 1920's photographs that the main block
was divided nearly in half by o north~south wall (ie. seperate entrances for
these halves on the south facade) snd %that there was 2 north and south half as
well zs suggested by the centrally locsted entrence, The conspicuous asbsence
of a window in the # 2 bay of the second floor of the south facade plus the
unequal distsnce et this point between bays # 2 and # 3 on the first floor
sugzest that a steairwsy may have been located here. The photogreph is cubt off
at the roof level and a2 tree is somewhat obstructive but the presence of a

fird level window suggests that this solid area of ihe south wall is not relastive
to an interior end chimney.

In the same photograph (see p. 5 Towson Bicentennial) one can barely se
what appears to be an end chimney on the east wing. One can assume that this
chimney served the kitchen arez not only because of the itradition in this area
of a "kitchen wing" but also becesuse of the relation between the back of a house
and the mundane sctivities of cooking, wushing, etc. The heat and smells asso=-
ciated with these chores along with the unsightliness relative to The keeping
of food snimals, wood chopping a2nd s> on was quite often delegsted to the rear
of 2 building and hidden from the main street. It is no coincidence that in

el 6}
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the 1926 photograph we see wash hanging from a line on the porch of the east wing.
One last fzctor relative to the interior arrangement is the chimney seen

in the 1920's photogrsph of the northwest (mein) facade. A single chimney cap

can be seen on the northeast side of the bullding in a position expected of an

interior end chimney. There is none on the opposite end, however, and if this

chimney served fireplaces 1t gives some indication of where fireplace rooms might

have been located.

Alterations-

We sre in error to consider the 1920's photographs of the "Towson Hotel?
as pictures of a colonizl tavern. In both of the photographs one cen sees ob-
vious changes in the fenestration snd what is perhaps evidence of an addition.
The tall 2/2 windows seen on the first level of both the northwest znd south-
west sides sre obvious Victorian alterstions, as is the 1/1 sash in the east
bay on the first level of the southwest facade. Seen most clearly in the photo-
graph of that side is a verticel line in the wsll dividing bays # 2 and # 3.
Realizing that this line may represent an electrical conduit or some other
attached object it still seems worth pointing out thet the line also appears to
be a break in the masonary. The odd width in between bays # 2 and # 3 bisected
by this line is quite like one would expect to see if bays # 1 and 4 2 were
later additions. '

Assuming for s moment that this was the case then the three easternmost
bays of the main block constituted 2 center hall plan in an L-sghaved stone house.
Given the identical chain of title that this building shares with the Schmuck
House these architectural similsrities can not be overlocked. The twd buildings
(even bevond consideration of the hotel having an addition) share:

- stone construction

- Leplan

- long porch in ell

- Towson-Schmuck~Shealey ownership

It is 2lso interesting to note that John Wilhelm appears in thslt same chain
of title and that the sale of his estate in 1823 contained s two story sione
dwelling which was nearly new.

The hipped roof and knee windows, stone construction and single end chim-
ney give this building s Federal era lock which it shares with its immediate
neighbor, the Thomas Whittle house. Thomas Whittle is believed to have.been a
builder whose house still stands right behind the tavern site st # 510 Delawsre
Avenue. It, the Schmuck House, and one other building are the only structures
in centrsl Towson predating the Court House. MNone of these buildings, the
"Towson Hotel® included are colonial structures snd they asre Federal era (1790-
1830) stiuctures at the earliest. None is without Victorisn edditions and/or
alterations.

The most likely periods of chenge in the evolution of the "Towson tavern®
into the "Towson Hotel" of course begin with the pre-revolutionary construction.
Tradition, supnorted by the sinzle reference by Clark to interior logs, suggests
that the first building mey have employed log construction. 1799 seems like
another significant date because of the iIncressed business Ezekiel Towson might
have expected from the new turnpike. 1823 is another since at this time John
Wlhelm's tavern stsnd {appearing in chain of title) was being advertised for
sale containing a log house and two story stone house that was "nesrly new."
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The Adys' ownership during the second half 5f the 19th centuryv is likely to
have seen some changes and whatever Tictorisn elements posessed by the building
would hsve been acquired during this period. A petition filed by Mery Ady in
June of 1880 tells us that the hotel was at that time "badly in need of repairs"
and stated that the building would need new spouting, floors and repairs to the
porches.

Cutbuildings-

A pre-gutomobile era inn that provided food and housing for trsvelers
meant that it had to serve the needs of both people and animals. The Towson
Tavern is likely to have had such dependencies as a carriage house, stables,
a privy, dairy, meathouse, washhouse, et. al. The deeds for this building
suggest that s form was associsted with the tavern stand and Hahn and Behm-
state that Edward Ady supplied his guests with "vegetsbles from his garden,
milk and cheese from his dairy, meat from his farm end wine and grapes from
his arbor.”" If this was the case then perhaps food storage and processing
structures were not necessary direct dependencies of the hotel, but on the farm
close-by. The petition of 1880, however, mentions the "ouildings on said
property."

The only outbuildings for which there is documentsiion are the stables
and a springhouse. A row of stables behind or south of the southeast end of the
building asppesr on both the Hopkins 1877 Atlas and the one published by Bromley
in 1898. Hopkins shows & row of three contiguous stables running in sn east-
west direction and Bromley shows but two. Mrs. Ady's testimony concerning the
condition of the stabling sugzests the possibility that the westernmost siable
to be the largest of the stables and it apresars to have siood directly on the
0ld Hillen Road, later called Delaware Avenue. Bromley indicates all three
stables to be of frume construction (Bromlev does not consider log construction
in his cnlor-coded scheme and shows no log buildings in Towson. The East Towson
Survey identified several log houses, however, and this survey has encountered
references to log outbuildings on the Towson property, Rowen property snd others).

Both the Hopkins and Bromley stlases show s building on the northeast cor-
ner of the hotel property that is standing at the intersection of Joppa Road
and Delaware Avenue. 3Bromley indicates that 1t is frame. Tt assumes the odd
shape of that corner, has indentations on its south side and is sither connected
or adjscent to the largest stsble, It does not, however, have the cross-hatch
which both atlases give stables. The indentations have in the case of the John
I. Yellott House for example proven to be indicstive of additions to @ building.
The structure sppesrs large and given its location wss probebly a service build-
ing of some kind but its sctusl purpose remains a mystery. References to black-
smiths, wheelrights, etc., in the niechborhood, lead to possibilities but nothing
More.

The springhouse appears throughout the chain of title from B. Payne (1850's).
It, like the hotel, was constructed of stone.
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TITLE S&ARCH FOR TOWSON TAVZRN/HOTEL
Liber Folio Date Grantor Grantee
159 29 Februsry 9, 1887 Mary E. Ady et. al. Towson Nationel Bank
Bauityv Docket 7, Foli 1 e # 2ff~l u 21 BQ
fLquity Docket 7, Folio 197 Case # L265 June 21, 1880
Judicial Record 177, Folio 311
Petition of Mary Ady mentions:
",..52id hotel and the buildings upon said property are badly in
need of repairs; thst it is necessary to its preservastion new spouting
be put upon it at once, some new flooring be put down, the porches
be repaired and certein improvements be mede to the stabling on said
property.”
This also contains a list about conveysnces ie. - Andrew Jerman, 1880;
William Ruby, 1881; Towson National Bank, 1887,
118 502 June 11, 1880 Joshua F. Cockey & wife Mary E. & Virginia Ady
o 117 525 June 23, 1880 First Part: Joshus F. Cockey
Second Part: Mary E. % Virginia Ady
Third Part: Loulss E. Lee Exec. of Will &
Testament of Daniel Lee
Fourth Part: 4. Jackson Germen
112 225 June 10, 1879 Semuel F. 3utler Mary . & Virginia ady
. 112 253 June 18, 1879 Samuel M. 4dy admin. Samuel Butler
: L9 1Lk June 8, 1866 Zenjemin W. Payne LEASE to Edward ady
11 142 April 27, 1855 Benjamin Payne Frencis % Fdwserd Ady et al
MBeginning...stone planted on the esst side Jf the Fillen Road supposed
t2 be a tract of land czlled “James MeadowsV..®
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An Inn at the Crossroads

When the Towson brothers selected their
homestead, they showed the foresight of born
entrepreneurs. The Joppa Road was the
principal artery connecting central Baltimore
County with the port and county seat at Joppa.
In addition, a road linking the rich farmland of
southern Pennsylvania with the port of
Baltimore had been completed in 1743, less than
ten years before the brothers’ arrival. In the
first month of its existence this road carried “no
less than sixty wagons” of flaxseed to
Baltimore, a sign of the future importance of
the York Road.

Perhaps from the beginning the Towsons
conceived of establishing a business which
would take advantage of this traffic. Perhaps
some trade was done. We cannot know for sure,
but we do know that in 1768 Ezekiel Towson,
William’s son, built a stone tavern near where
Hutzler's is now. A document of the court of
1768 shows the inn well prepared to serve
travelers. Its bill of fare of two dozen items
included the following, priced in pounds,
shillings, and pence:

Stableage with good Clover or

Timothy Hay per Night & Day

o e S S e S S S S T 0.2,
Wine & Beer from London or Bristol ........... 0.1
a Hot Meale of Roast or broiled

with Small Beer Cyder ............cccovvivnnns 0.1
Breakfast or Supper .....iciieiiesiisenisorenns 0.1
Toddy made of Country Rum or

Brandy per QUart ......cossesssssisseirnesis
Lodging per night with clean Sheets ...........

BA- % 456
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The success of the tavern hung in the
balance in 1799 when the road to York was
being fashioned into a turnpike. The original
plans called for the turnpike to pass “thirty-two
perches” from the tavern. Petitioning the
Maryland legislature to change the route,
Ezekiel Towson noted that he had kept his
tavern many vears “‘for the entertainment of
man and beast.” If the lawmakers would route
the road past his door, he promised to donate
any land needed for such a change. Alone, the
innkeeper inaugurated the venerable Towsonian
tradition of private gain by political
transaction. The direction of the York Turnpike
was changed, and Towsontown and its tavern
thrived. Ezekiel prepared his inn for an
increased patronage.

The Towson Tavern soon boasted thirteen
bedrooms on the second and third floors as well
as a first-floor dining room, bar, kitchen,
pantry, reading room, lobby, and private
quarters for Ezekiel and his twelve children.
(Ezekiel apparently was never at a loss for
household help.) It is said that among the
boarders at various times were Washington (of
course) Lafayette, and members of the tourin
Prussian royal house, who were stranded in the

Towson Tavern for many days during a

snowstorm.

When the Towson family scattered and
Ezekiel died, the inn was sold and resold to
many proprietors during the next century.
Edward H. Ady, whose tenure dominated the

Hahn, George H. and Carl Behm III

1977 A Pictorial History of a Maryland Town: Towson. Norfolk, Virginia: Donning Co.
Publishers.
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